

#### AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE

#### **BOARD OF TRUSTEES**

**OF THE** 

#### MT. SAN JACINTO COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT

AND THE
UNIVERSITY PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES - COMMUNICATION
WORKERS OF AMERICA ("UPTE-CWA")

As of July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2027

### **Table of Contents**

PREAMBLE		3
ARTICLE I.	RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE II.	DISTRICT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE III.	NON DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE IV.	UNION RIGHTS	5
ARTICLE V.	WORKLOAD AND ASSIGNMENT	
ARTICLE VI.	COMPENSATION	12
ARTICLE VII.	HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS	13
ARTICLE VIII.	CLASS SIZE	13
ARTICLE IX.	EVALUATION PROCEDURES AND PERSONNEL FILES	14
ARTICLE X.	LEAVES	16
ARTICLE XI.	TRANSFERS AND VACANCIES	17
ARTICLE XII.	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	18
ARTICLE XIII.	ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY/AGENCY FEES	21
ARTICLE XIV.	SAVINGS AND SEVERABILITY PROVISION	23
ARTICLE XV.	COMPLETION OF MEET AND NEGOTIATION	23
ARTICLE XVI.	SAFETY	2
ARTICLE XVII.	CONCERTED ACTIVITIES	25
ARTICLE XVIII.	TERM	20
	SOCIATE FACULTY HOURLY SALARY SCHEDULE	
	UITY FUNDING DISTRIBUTION FORMULA	LIDE

APPENDIX D - ASSOCIATE FACULTY AVAILABILITY FORM

APPENDIX E - PART-TIME FACULTY OFFICE HOURS REQUEST FORM

#### **PREAMBLE**

This is an Agreement made and entered into the 27<sup>th</sup> day of June 2024 between the Mt. San Jacinto Community College District, hereinafter referred to as "District" and the University Professional and Technical Employees – Communication Workers of America ("UPTE-CWA"), hereinafter referred to as "Union."

The District and the Union recognize that it is in the best interests of both parties, the employees, and the public that all dealings between them continue to be characterized by mutual responsibility and respect. To ensure that this relationship continues and improves, the District and the Union and their respective representatives at all levels will apply the terms of this Agreement fairly in accord with its intent and meaning and consistent with the Union's status as exclusive bargaining representative of all employees covered by this Agreement. Each party shall bring to the attention of all employees in the unit covered by this Agreement, including new hires, their obligation to conduct themselves in a spirit of responsibility and respect and of the measures they have agreed upon to insure adherence to this purpose.

#### ARTICLE I. RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The District confirms its recognition of the University Professional and Technical Employees Communication Workers of America ("UPTE-CWA"), as the exclusive representative for that unit of employees (hereinafter referred to as the "Unit") certified by the Public Employees Relation Board in Case No. LA-RR-1063-E dated December 18, 2000. The Unit will consist of all librarians and academic employees assigned to the associate faculty salary schedule.
- 1.2 Excluded are all regular full-time faculty; contract faculty; faculty paid by stipend; faculty interns; faculty assigned to fee-based classes; faculty assigned to non-state-apportionment generating classes; faculty employed for less than thirty two (32) hours per semester; coaches and all management, supervisory, confidential, and classified employees, as well as all individuals not otherwise specifically identified as being members of the bargaining unit.

1.3 Classified, confidential, management and supervisory employees, though excluded from the bargaining unit, may be included in the Associate hiring pools. However, work performed under this contract would be covered for purposes of representation.

#### ARTICLE II. <u>DISTRICT RIGHTS</u>

- 2.1 It is understood and agreed that the District retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage and control to the full extent of the law. Included in, but not limited to, those duties and powers, are the exclusive right to: determine its organization; direct the work of its employees; determine the times and hours of operation; determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided, and the methods and means of providing them; establish its educational policies, goals and objectives; ensure the rights and educational opportunities of students; determine staffing patterns; determine the number and kinds of personnel required and how they are to be selected; maintain the efficiency of District operations; determine the curriculum; build, move or modify facilities and make all room and office assignments; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocations; determine the methods of raising revenue; contract out work; and take action on any matter in the event of an emergency. In addition, the District retains the right to hire, classify, assign, evaluate, promote, terminate, and discipline Unit Members as authorized by all applicable codes. All such matters, unless otherwise provided for in this agreement, are excluded from the grievance procedure.
- 2.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement, and then only to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with law. Additionally, the District retains the sole discretion and right to determine the impacts and effects of all matters outside the scope of representation as defined by the Educational Employment Relations Act (CA Government Code 3540 et seq.)

- 2.3 In cases of extreme emergency\* necessitating closure of the college and/or suspension of classes, any provisions of this agreement conflicting with the necessary emergency procedures shall be suspended for the duration of the emergency. The District shall, within one (1) day or as soon as is physically possible, meet with Union representatives and attempt to reach an agreement on which sections of this agreement are affected and for what duration.
- 2.4 In cases of financial emergency, any provisions and terms of this agreement affected by reduction in funding to the District shall be suspended and reopened for negotiation when the District files public notice that current operating standards cannot be met and stipulates the amount of reduced funds.

#### ARTICLE III. <u>NON-DISCRIMINATION</u>

3.1 Neither the District nor the Union shall unlawfully discriminate against any unit member because of rights guaranteed by the Educational Employment Relations Act. Perceived acts of discrimination shall be addressed immediately. Such discrimination is subject to unfair practice procedures and shall be grieveable under Article 12 of this Agreement. A bargaining unit member who makes a claim of unlawful discrimination pursuant to this Article, shall except as otherwise allowed or provided by law, be deemed to have waived any and all other rights, procedures, and remedies that are not otherwise set forth in the grievance procedure pursuant to Article XII of this agreement.

#### ARTICLE IV. <u>UNION RIGHTS</u>

- 4.1 The Union shall have the following rights in addition to any rights contained in other portions of the Agreement:
  - 4.1.1 The right of access to areas in which employees work during non-duty hours, such as lunch and rest periods, provided there is no interference with District operations.
  - 4.1.2 The right to use designated institutional bulletin boards, and mailboxes and other means of communication, subject to reasonable regulations by the District.

<sup>\*</sup>Extreme emergency shall mean sudden and unexpected calamities such as earthquake, fire, flood and other occurrences, which interfere with normal operation of the college.

- 4.1.3 The right to use designated District facilities and equipment during release time or non-duty hours, subject to the established sign-up procedures and regulations, provided that all costs of materials are borne by the Union.
- 4.1.4 Within sixty (60) days after the execution of this Agreement, the District shall print or duplicate and provide without charge a copy of this Agreement to every employee in the bargaining unit. Any employee who becomes a member of the bargaining unit after the execution of this Agreement shall be provided by the District, without charge, with a copy of any written changes agreed to by the parties to this Agreement during the life of this Agreement.
- 4.1.5 The District shall provide reasonable release time for a total of up to eighty (80) hours per fiscal year to authorized representatives of the Union to engage in bargaining and in processing of grievances in accordance with the requirements of the Educational Employment Relations Act. The Union's authorized representative will provide a preliminary list to the District fourteen (14) days prior to the start of the fall and spring semesters of the names of the Association members who will be eligible to receive the release time. The District will consider release if the union reimburses the District. All such release time must be at a minimum and not disrupt classes.
- 4.1.6 The Union's authorized representative shall be granted access to public documents in the possession of the District, which relate to wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment within the meaning of the Educational Employment Relations Act. Except as otherwise expressly required by law, such access shall be granted only during their non-duty hours and at such times so as to minimize interference with normal District operations. (See 13.5)
- 4.1.7 The exclusive representative and members of the bargaining unit shall ensure that there will be no display of conduct which is in violation of the law. The CWA agrees not to use District's mail service for purposes of urging the support or defeat of any ballot measure or candidate, including but not limited to, any candidate for election to the Governing Board of the District in accordance with California Education Code section 7054. Additionally, the Union and members of the bargaining unit agree that they will not use District services, supplies, or equipment

- for the purpose of urging support or defeat of any ballot measure or candidate, including but not limited to, any candidate for election to the Governing Board of the District pursuant to California Education Code section 7054
- 4.1.8 The District shall provide UPTE/CWA time during part-time faculty orientations to meet with new bargaining unit members, whether in person, online, or through other means, regarding association business. The Union shall have a block of thirty (30) minutes of this orientation process. The District will provide the Union not less than ten (10) business days' notice in advance of an orientation, except where a shorter notice may be provided as agree upon and in specific instances where there is an urgent need critical to District operations that was not reasonably foreseeable. Orientations may occur at any time subject to District need but will typically occur during fall and spring semester instructional improvement days. Orientations will not be delayed or cancelled due to the inability or failure of the Union representatives to attend. New employees are not compelled to attend the portion of the orientation accessed or conducted by the Union. Upon request of the Union representative, during the Union's portion of the orientation session, no District manager or supervisor, or non-unit employee shall be present.

#### ARTICLE V. WORKLOAD AND ASSIGNMENT

5.1 Assignment of Associate Faculty

The District retains the right to make assignments for all bargaining unit employees.

- 5.1.1 In consultation with the department chair or District designee, the appropriate administrator may schedule and assign bargaining unit employees up sixty-seven percent (67%) of a full-time teaching load.
- 5.1.2 Nothing contained in this section nor in any article of the Agreement shall be construed to allow bargaining unit employees to be assigned a load over the limit permitted for temporary employees as per the Education Code.
- 5.1.3 Special Project Classes. Those classes identified as "Honors" or "Directed Studies" classes, because they also contain honor students, shall be compensated at \$75.00 per honor student, up to a maximum of \$375.00 per class. Those class assignments

containing only honor students shall be considered part of the instructor's standard workload and will be compensated the same as any regular load assignment.

#### 5.2 Scheduling of Associate Faculty

To meet the needs of the District, the scheduling and assignment of bargaining unit members shall be at the discretion of the appropriate department chairs, deans, vice presidents, or other appropriate administrators.

- Bargaining unit employees are "temporary employees" in accordance with the Education Code Section 87482.5. Nothing contained in this section nor in any article of this agreement places a legal obligation on the District to provide continuing employment for bargaining unit employees.
- 5.2.2 Associate Faculty Assignment and Seniority Re-Employment Rights When there is need for additional faculty service beyond that provided by regular and/or contracted employees, the following factors shall be considered in developing the schedule for Associate Faculty. As referenced in the article, "re-employment preference" means that there is careful thought, attention, or deliberation regarding the decision. Re-employment preference does not mean a guaranteed placement, but it requires the importance is given to the scheduling of bargaining unit employees. The District will keep a list of Associate Faculty hire dates and semesters taught in sequential order for assignment purposes. The Union will be provided an annual seniority list from the Employer every July 1<sup>st</sup>.

#### 5.2.3 Re-Employment Preference

A bargaining unit member shall receive re-employment preference (subject to the procedures specified below) by meeting all of the following criteria:

- 1. Has taught at least one (1) class or received an assignment of at least fifty-four (54) hours in an academic year, for two (2) consecutive academic years.
- 2. Has received a "satisfactory" rating on his/her/their most recent evaluation
- 3. Has received a favorable annual student evaluation.

Evaluations shall be subject to Article IX of this Agreement.

Re-employment preference shall be determined by the date of hire as a part-time faculty member in the department or similar unit, not prior service with the District as full-time faculty, administrators, or classified personnel. If two or more-unit members have the same hire date, re-employment preference will be determined by the total number of courses taught since Academic Year 2003.

A bargaining unit member may lose their re-employment preference hire date and eligibility for re-employment preference by meeting any of the following criteria:

- 1. A unit member is not employed for two (2) consecutive academic years.
- 2. A unit member receives less than a satisfactory evaluation.
- 3. A unit member is rehired, making their new hire date their re-employment preference date.

All bargaining unit members eligible for re-employment preference in a given department or similar unit will be ranked in order of their hire date.

#### 5.2.4 Assignment Procedures

The appropriate college administration maintains the right of assignment for all faculty assignments.

To receive re-employment preference the following criteria is used when making assignments for associate faculty:

- a. Subject matter expertise of the associate faculty per course (e.g., skills, ability, or certificates possessed by faculty related to courses offered in a specific discipline).
- b. Unit members shall complete an Associate Assignment Availability and Request Form (Appendix D) prior to each semester.
- c. Satisfactory evaluation: unit members are assessed on at least a three (3)-year evaluation cycle and must earn an overall satisfactory rating.
- d. In order of ranking on the re-employment preference list provided by Human Resources to the Dean of Instruction and Dean of Student Services.
- e. Re-employment preference shall apply to fall and spring semester assignments only.
- f. Unit members shall ensure timely approval and signature of load sheets.

5.2.5 In order to provide a mechanism by which the District can be advised of the availability of a given bargaining unit member for future employment, the District shall distribute, once during each semester of every academic year, an Associate Faculty Availability Information Form to the bargaining unit employee who shall return the form to the District (See Appendix D)

#### 5.3 Working Environments for Associate Faculty

- 5.3.1 The District understands, in order for Associate Faculty to perform their duties in accordance with District standards and expectations that the District will provide appropriate faculty/staff parking permits conferring the right to park in designated areas on each campus or off-campus site, under established District and local laws, at no charge to the Associate Faculty member. Associate Faculty members understand that they will be wholly responsible for payment of any and all fines levied by the District or local authorities for parking violations.
- 5.3.2 The District will provide Associate Faculty with workroom space on each of the three campuses, San Jacinto and Menifee and Temecula, which will be available to all Associate Faculty members whenever classes are in session and/or the College is officially open for business. This workroom will be reasonably equipped with, at least, worktables and chairs, interoffice/intercampus mailboxes, basic office and instructional supplies (pens, pencils, markers, paper, staplers, etc.), bulletin board, a telephone for the use of Associate Faculty members in support of their instructional activities and working computers with software appropriate to maintain instructional service. Additionally, the District will provide and maintain photocopying equipment for use by Associate Faculty within the guidelines and procedures set forth in writing by the District. Furthermore, the District will make every effort to provide semi-private space in the workroom for Faculty use to conduct student conferences. The District has the right to determine the location and size of the space provided for the use of Associate Faculty. However, if the workroom is to be substantially changed or relocated, the District will inform the Associate Faculty members, in writing, at least three (3) weeks prior to the change.
- 5.3.3 The District will compensate, at the appropriate hourly rate, all meetings, training sessions, or other non-instructional activities required by the District. All meetings,

training sessions, or other non-instructional activities that are offered to Associate Faculty as optional or enrichment activities, may be offered as compensated activities under the existing FLEX program at the discretion of the District under the current FLEX guidelines.

- 5.3.4 In the spirit of shared governance, Associate Faculty who are elected/selected to serve on the District Safety Committee or Facilities Committee as official representatives of the UPTE/CWA membership will receive a stipend of \$250 per semester of service.
  - Associate Faculty who are elected to serve on the Academic Senate will receive a stipend of \$350 per semester. Associate Faculty members will be required to attend a minimum of seventy five percent (75%) of the regularly scheduled meetings held by the committee or Academic Senate to be eligible for the stipend. Attendance will be verified by official committee minutes. The District will ensure that Associate Faculty are compensated for service once the Human Resources Service Request (HRSR) is submitted by the Office of Instruction or the Office of Student Services, including the executed contract which is fully executed with the attendance record.
- 5.3.5 Non-Teaching Associate Faculty who work hourly schedules will be allowed a unpaid thirty (30) minute lunch break and two paid fifteen (15) minute breaks when working more than six (6) hours in any day.
- 5.3.6 Extensive Lab rates to be effective in the next semester following full ratification of the tentative agreement. Determining an Extensive Preparation Laboratory will be based on the following:
  - In addition to requiring planning and substantially more preparation on the
    part of the instructor, the class also requires that the student learn basic
    discipline specific academic information and skills in order to be an
    effective participant in the class.
  - 2. Typically, such classes have as a primary function the teaching of new and additional concepts which are more than reinforcement of principles taught in the lecture component of the course. An extensive preparation laboratory class may be thought of as a stand-alone course, requiring extensive homework assignments and exams.

- 3. Criteria for determining an extensive preparation laboratory are as follows:
  - i. The laboratory requires the active, continuing presence of the instructor with ongoing involvement in lecturing, demonstrating, or assisting the students.
  - ii. The laboratory requires extensive student preparation from text and lecture material prior to and after each laboratory session;
  - iii. The laboratory requires evaluation of student performance on a regular basis in the same manner as in a Lecture class;
  - iv. The laboratory is connected to an extensive classroom lecture program and is supplemented with assigned readings; and
  - v. The laboratory requires that instructors are involved with professional development equivalent to that in lecture courses to maintain proficiency in the areas covered by the laboratory work.
- 5.4 Creditable Service (CalSTRS) under Education Code Section 22138.5: This section of the education code requires that each collective bargaining agreement that applies to a member subject to the minimum standard specified in EC22138.5 shall specify the number of hours of creditable service that equals "full-time" pursuant to section 22138.5(c)(5) and shall make specific reference to this section. Accordingly, the full-time equivalent (FTE) creditable service for instructors employed on a part-time basis (members covered under this collective bargaining agreement) shall be "five hundred twenty-five (525) instructional hours or seven hundred (700) laboratory/non-teaching hours" per school year (academic year).

#### ARTICLE VI. COMPENSATION

Compensation for members of the bargaining unit shall include but not be limited to:

Salary/Wages Salary/Wages/Fringe Impact Step Increase

- 6.1 Salary Schedule-See Appendix A
- 6.2 Special Projects see section 5.1.3

- 6.3 Equity Funding Distribution Appendix B
- 6.4 Office Hours (effective the semester following ratification of Agreement)
  - 1. Associate Faculty office hours to be scheduled as follows:
    - Unit members will be eligible to receive up to one and a half (1.5) office hours for every unit taught during the semester (e.g., nine (9) units=eligibility up to thirteen and one half (13.5) office hours per semester).
  - 2. The rate of compensation for office hours will be paid at \$35.00 per hour to those who have provided hours in their syllabus and completed the Part-time Faculty Office Hours Request Form (Appendix E)
  - 3. Associate Faculty members will decide where office hours will be held, in-person or online, the office hours can be remote; if forty percent (40%) of their assignment is face-to-face, then forty percent (40%) of the office hours would be face-to-face). The scheduled times and locations for office hours shall be recommended by the Associate Faculty member subject to approval by the Dean.
  - 4. Office hours will be posted in the Associate Faculty member's class syllabus, and students shall be notified by the instructor. Office hours shall be scheduled to meet student needs and on the Associate Faculty approved load sheet. Interested Associate Faculty members shall submit a Part-time Faculty Office Hours Request Form (Appendix E) by the deadline, during the first week of each semester.
  - 5. Associate Faculty participation is voluntary. It is understood and agreed that no office hours are required of the Associate Faculty.

#### ARTICLE VII. HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS

7.1 Associate faculty members will be eligible for Health and benefits as required by state and federal law requirements, including, but not limited to, the federal Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. The District shall have the right in its sole discretion to take any actions necessary and appropriate concerning compliance with state and federal law.

#### ARTICLE VIII. CLASS SIZE

8.1 The District shall have the sole discretion to determine class size. Class sizes shall be consistent with class sizes assigned to full-time faculty.

#### ARTICLE IX. EVALUATION PROCEDURES AND PERSONNEL FILES

- 9.1 Evaluation of Bargaining unit members will be conducted in accordance with the following procedures. Each unit member will be evaluated during the first semester of teaching in the District and at least once every six (6) regular semesters thereafter. The following will apply:
  - 9.1.1 Bargaining unit members will be notified at least two (2) weeks in advance that the evaluation will be taking place. This notification will include information regarding the procedure for evaluation and the individual who will be performing the peer evaluation. Every effort will be made to schedule the evaluation at a time that is mutually convenient for the bargaining unit member and the evaluator, and at a time that allows the evaluator to see the best practices of the bargaining unit member.
  - 9.1.2 All evaluations will include a student evaluation of instruction.
    - Student evaluations will typically be completed annually no sooner than the 8th week of instruction during a regular semester length course, or no sooner that the 1/2 point in a shorter length course; or no later than typically the 16<sup>th</sup> week of instruction during a regular semester length course, or the equivalent in a shorter length course.
    - Bargaining unit members may have student evaluation surveys made of selected or of all courses that they are teaching in the semester being evaluated at the discretion of the District.
    - Students will be asked annually to anonymously complete a standard evaluation form as adopted for District use in evaluation of all Faculty. This form will ask questions on course effectiveness to be answered with a numerical ranking and also allow for individual student comments. Annual student evaluation will be made available to bargaining unit employees and the supervising Dean.
    - Only the student evaluation that is conducted with the peer evaluation will be considered in the final evaluation report.
  - 9.1.3 All evaluations will include a peer review to be made by a faculty member or administrator who is familiar with standard teaching practices and procedures in

the discipline being evaluated.

- Peer review will be completed no sooner than the 8<sup>th</sup> week of instruction during a regular semester length course, or no sooner that the ½ point in a shorter length course; nor no later than the 16<sup>th</sup> week of instruction during a regular semester length course, or the equivalent in a shorter length course.
- Peer review may occur in selected or in all courses being taught in the semester being evaluated at the discretion of the District.
- The District will develop a standard peer review form to be used in classroom observations in all disciplines. This form will consider a unit member's performance in several standard teaching areas and in classroom effectiveness and allow for extensive observational comments by the evaluator. The peer review observation report will note areas of strength and areas of improvement in the unit member's performance.
- A copy of the completed observation form will be given to the bargaining unit member being evaluated within five (5) working days of the evaluation.
- 9.1.4 All evaluations will include a Self-Evaluation to be submitted by the bargaining unit member.
  - Self-evaluations will be completed no sooner than the 8<sup>th</sup> week of instruction during a regular semester length course, or no sooner than the ½ point in a shorter length course; nor no later than the 16<sup>th</sup> week of instruction during a regular semester length course, or the equivalent in a shorter length course.
  - Self-evaluations may occur in selected or in all courses being taught in the semester being evaluated at the discretion of the District.
  - The District will develop a self-evaluation form to be used by bargaining unit members in all disciplines. This self-evaluation form will include space for the unit member to describe his/her teaching philosophy, strategy, methodology and practices. It will also include space for the unit member to describe particular successes or challenges encountered during the semester.
  - The bargaining unit member will turn in the self-evaluation form no later

than the last regularly scheduled day of instruction for the course(s) being evaluated.

- 9.1.5 An administrator of the District or an appropriate designee will compile a final evaluation report. It is preferred that whenever possible the individual who conducted the peer evaluation also be the one to prepare the final evaluation report. The evaluation report will consist of the following:
  - A report on the student evaluations, which will include a summary of the numerical results, a typed copy of all individual student comments, and a copy of the evaluation form used.
  - A final copy of the peer evaluation report; which will include a copy of the peer evaluation observation form, peer review report of student evaluation results, and a peer review of the self-evaluation form. This report will note overall strengths of the unit member and note any areas in need of improvement or corrective actions (if any) to be taken by the unit member.
  - The report will be mailed to the unit member's home address after grades have been submitted for the semester evaluated, but no later than four (4) weeks after the end of the semester evaluated. The unit member will have the opportunity to respond in writing to the evaluation report; all responses must be submitted to the District within two (2) weeks of receipt of the final evaluation report.
  - The final evaluation report and written response (if any) will be included in the member's personnel file and may be used as a basis for consideration of future teaching or non-teaching assignments.
- 9.1.6 Nothing in this article shall preclude the District from conducting additional evaluations at its discretion.

#### ARTICLE X. <u>LEAVES</u>

10.1 The District will provide sick leave to (Associate Faculty) Unit Members. Sick leave will be provided each semester at a rate equal to lecture hours ÷ 14 and (lab hours X .67) ÷ 14.

A unit member may utilize a maximum of three (3) weeks of sick leave in any single semester (i.e. an individual teaching a single three (3)-unit class could take up to nine (9)

- hours of sick leave or an individual having a full sixty (60%) load could take up to twenty-seven (27) hours of sick leave). The District retains the right to either replace or retain a substitute for any unit member absent for more than the three (3) week period outlined above. The provisions of this section exclude accelerated classes.
- 10.2 Sick Leave provided under this section will be computed using the above formula applied to the actual number of lecture and lab hours as reflected on the final payroll for the semester. Additionally, sick leave that remains unused at the end of the semester will be accumulated and available at the beginning of the next regular semester the unit member is employed to work. The limitations on the use of sick leave stated in section 10.1 apply. As a condition of payment for sick leave, the District may require the employee to provide verification of the illness through the employee's physician. Leave under this policy may be used in connection with the diagnosis care, or treatment of an existing health condition for, or the preventive care of, an employee or an employee's immediate family member. "Family member" for purposes of this policy includes spouses, registered domestic partners, children (regardless of age), parents (including stepparents, and parents-in-law), grandparents, and siblings. Leave under this policy may also be used for employees who are victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
- 10.3 Bereavement Leave Associate Faculty shall be entitled to a maximum of three (3) days leave of absence, without loss of salary on account of death of any member of his/her/their immediate family. "Immediate Family" is defined as mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or a grandchild of the employee or the spouse of the employee, and the spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother or sister of the employee.
- 10.4 Catastrophic Leave Program
  - The District shall offer a catastrophic leave program for unit members. The District shall have the authority and responsibility to adopt the rules, regulations, and guidelines necessary to implement the program in conformance with Education Code § 87045.

#### ARTICLE XI. TRANSFERS AND VACANCIES

- 11.1 It is the District's intent to provide reasonable continuity and predictability to the process for determining class assignments to Unit Members recognizing that:
  - 11.1.1 Unit Members must meet minimum qualifications, or through equivalency, to serve

- as an academic employee in a Community College.
- 11.1.2 Unit members are at will employees and the District has the right to assign Unit Members based upon the needs of the District.
- 11.1.3 Assignment to a class is contingent upon full-time faculty receiving a full contract load plus one overload
- 11.1.4 Every effort will be made to provide notice of class assignment or cancellation of classes within a reasonable period of time.

#### ARTICLE XII. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

#### 12.1 Definitions

- 12.1.1 Grievance-A "grievance" is a written allegation by a grievant, or the Union, submitted as herein specified, claiming that there has been a misinterpretation, misapplication or violation of the specific terms of this Agreement.
  - 12.1.1.1 "Grievance" as defined in this Agreement shall be brought through this Grievance Procedure. A grievance shall not include and this grievance procedure shall not apply to any of the following:
  - a. Any matter upon which the District is without authority to act;
  - b. Any alleged violation of law that does not also state a violation of a specific provision of this Agreement;
  - c. The contents of performance ratings of members of the unit;
  - d. Any attempt to alter or change this Agreement;
  - e. Any non-renewal of a bargaining unit member's employment contract (however, upon written request of a non-renewed employee, the District shall consult with that employee. The employee may have representation present during the meeting);
  - f. Any other matter not included in the definition stated in Section 12.1.1.
- 12.1.2 Grievant A "Grievant" may be any unit member covered by the terms of this agreement.
- 12.1.3 Day A "day" (for purposes of this Grievance Article) is any day in which the administration office of the District is regularly open for business.
- 12.1.4 First-Level Manager The "first-level manager" is the lowest level supervisor or

administrator having immediate jurisdiction over the Grievant who has been designated to adjust grievances by the superintendent/president.

#### 12.2 Miscellaneous

- 12.2.1 Failure by the Grievant or Union to file the grievance at any level of this procedure shall be considered as a permanent withdrawal of the matter.
- 12.2.2 Failure by the District to respond to the grievance within the time limits of this procedure shall be deemed as a denial of the grievance and entitles the grievant or the Union to proceed to the next step.
- 12.2.3 Time limits under this Article XII may be waived by mutual written agreement.
- 12.2.4 The Grievant is entitled to representation at every step of this grievance procedure.
- 12.2.5 Any grievance which arose prior to the effective date of this Agreement or which does not comply with the terms and requirements of a grievance shall not be processed under this Grievance Procedure.

#### 12.3 Level I – Initial Filing – First Level Manager or Dean

- 12.3.1 It is the responsibility of unit members who believe that they have a bona-fide complaint concerning their working conditions to discuss the issue with their first-level manager or Dean within twenty (20) working days of the time a unit member knew or reasonably should have known of an alleged grievance.
- 12.3.2 Within five (5) working days, shall give his/her/their oral response to the unit member. If such informal response does not resolve the problem to the unit member's, or Union's satisfaction, and if the complaint constitutes a grievance as herein defined, the unit member, or Union, may file a formal grievance in accordance with the following procedure.

#### 12.4 Level II – Vice President of Instruction or Vice President of Student Services

The grievance shall be presented in writing by signing and completing all parts of the grievance form provided by the District. It shall be submitted to the appropriate Vice President of Instruction or Vice President of Student Services within five (5) working days from the conclusion of the informal resolution process (12.3).

12.4.1 The Vice President of Instruction or Vice President of Student Services shall consider and discuss the grievance in a meeting with the Grievant/Union to be held within five (5) working days of the presentation of the grievance. Within five (5) working days after the conclusion of the meeting, the Vice President of Instruction or Vice President of Student Services will submit the response thereto in writing to the Grievant.

#### 12.5 Level III – Appeal to Vice President of Human Resources

- by presenting it to the appropriate Vice-President of Human Resources within five (5) working days of the receipt of the Vice President of Human Resources response.
- 12.5.1 The Vice-President of Human Resources may investigate the grievance and shall set a meeting within five (5) working days with the Grievant/Union, and such other personnel as appropriate to consider the grievance. Within five (5) working days after the conclusion of the meeting, the Vice-President of Human Resources will respond to the grievance in writing.
- 12.5.2 The parties may mutually agree to use a state mediator in a single mediation session unless otherwise agreed, in an effort to resolve the grievance. Any additional sessions shall be by mutual agreement of both parties.

#### 12.6 IV Mediation

- 12.6.1 The parties may mutually agree to use a state mediator unless otherwise agreed, in an effort to resolve the grievance.
- 12.6.2 If the written response of the Vice President or his/her/their designee does not result in a resolution of the grievance/union may appeal the response by filing a request with the District for mediation. Such requests must be received in the District's office within thirty (30) working days of the Grievant/Union's receipt of the Vice President's response.
- 12.6.3 The role of the mediator is to assist the parties in resolving any/all issues. The mediator shall not have the authority to make decisions that is binding upon either party.
- 12.6.4 If after a reasonable time period the parties are not able to reach agreement (or if the mediator deems further mediation sessions unnecessary): the District or the Grievant/Union may proceed to Level V of the grievance process.

#### 12.7 Level V- Appeal to the Board of Trustees

Either the Grievant/Union may appeal the decision of the Superintendent/President or designee to the Board of Trustees within fifteen (15) working days of the date of the decision rendered by Superintendent/President. If the Board of Trustees does not act on the appeal within forty-five (45) working days, the Superintendent/President or designee's decision shall be considered the full and complete resolution of the grievance and implemented in accordance with its terms. The decision of the Board of Trustees will be final.

#### ARTICLE XIII. ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY/AGENCY FEES

- 13.1 The UPTE-CWA membership ratification of this Agreement shall constitute notice to the District that UPTE-CWA has implemented this Article. However, membership in the Union shall be the personal choice of each employee in the bargaining unit. This section provides for membership dues. The termination of the Agreement, however, shall not constitute a basis for cessation of said implementation.
  - 13.1.1 The Union has the exclusive right to have employee organization membership dues deducted by the District for all bargaining unit members who submit dues authorization forms. The District shall deduct Union dues from the wages of all bargaining unit members who have submitted payroll deduction authorization forms. Such authorizations shall remain in effect until the member has notified the Union and subsequently, the Union has notified the District. If the District receives a request to cancel membership, they shall direct the individual to contact the Union. The District shall rely on information provided by the Union regarding whether dues deductions are maintained or cancelled unless a dispute arises about the existence or terms of the written authorization or cancellation. The Union shall indemnify the District for any claims made by a unit member for deductions made following receipt of a cancellation of dues deduction authorization. The District shall refer all employee questions about Union dues to the Union President.
- 13.2 No later than thirty (30) days following the date of ratification, the District shall provide UPTE-CWA with computer readable data containing the name, employee identification number, title, campus mailing address, home mailing address, appointment type, last date

- of hire with continuous employment, pay rate and department for each employee who is employed in the bargaining unit in the last payroll period preceding that date.
- 13.3 At least three (3) weeks prior to the start of each semester after the implementation of the Article, the District shall provide UPTE-CWA with computer readable data containing the name, employee identification number, title, campus mailing address, home mailing address, appointment type, date of hire, pay rate, and department for each employee in the bargaining unit in the last payroll period preceding that date.
- 13.4 The District shall provide UPTE-CWA with computer readable data containing the name, employee identification number, title, campus mailing address, home mailing address, appointment type, date of hire, pay rate, and department for each newly hired bargaining unit member as soon as practicable, but no later than thirty (30) days of his/her/their appointment.
- 13.5 At least once each month following implementation of this Article, the District will provide UPTE-CWA with computer readable data indicating the changes that have occurred within the bargaining unit (e.g., new hires, salary adjustments, transfers, promotions, discharges or other terminations, home addresses, etc.). This data will include the name, employee identification number, title, campus mailing address, home mailing address, appointment type, date of hire, pay rate, and department for each affected bargaining unit member.
- 13.6 UPTE-CWA will provide the District with the formula for calculating membership dues for members and fair share service fees for non-members. Upon notice to the District from UPTE-CWA, the District shall begin deducting membership dues for members from the wages of bargaining unit members and shall thereafter continue to do so on a monthly basis. As soon as practicable after deducting said dues and fees, the District shall remit said dues to UPTE-CWA on a monthly basis. At the same time, the District will provide a list (in computer readable data form) of the bargaining unit members from whom deductions have been taken, including their name, employee identification number, total gross monthly pay, title, department and amount of dues/fees deducted.
- 13.7 If through error, the full amount due to be deducted is not deducted and remitted to UPTE-CWA, the District will, upon written request from UPTE-CWA and notice to the affected employee, provide subsequent deductions until the shortage is corrected. For its part,

UPTE-CWA shall promptly refund to the employee any deductions erroneously withheld from the employee's wages by the District and paid to UPTE-CWA.

#### ARTICLE XIV. SAVINGS AND SEVERABILITY PROVISION

14.1 If any provisions of this Agreement are held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions will not be deemed valid except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions will continue in full force and effect.

The parties agree to meet and negotiate within thirty (30) days after such determination for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for the severed Article or Section.

#### ARTICLE XV. COMPLETION OF MEET AND NEGOTIATION

- During the term of this agreement, the Union and the District mutually and expressly waive and relinquish the right to meet and negotiate and agree that the parties shall not be obligated to meet and negotiate with respect to any subject or matter whether or not referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both the District or the Union at the time they met and negotiated on and executed this Agreement, and even though such subjects or matters were proposed and later withdrawn.
- 15.2 In Connection with negotiations for the 2026-27 academic year, either the District or UPTE/CWA shall be entitled to reopen negotiations for the next Academic Year, with up to two articles and compensation being able to be reopened. In order to reopen negotiations, a party wishing to reopen negotiations must notify the other party on or before October 1, 2026, and must provide its initial proposals to the other party no later than October 28, 2026.
- 15.3 The parties agree that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of the right of collective bargaining under the Educational Employment Relations Act are set forth in this agreement and as such constitute the full and complete commitments of both parties.

#### ARTICLE XVI. SAFETY

- 16.1 <u>Reporting:</u> Unit members have a responsibility to advise the District immediately of any conditions on school premises which constitute an unreasonable danger to the health, safety or welfare of students, employees or the public.
- 16.2 <u>Safety Committee:</u> The District shall allow for unit member representation on any committee appointed by the District for the purpose of investigating, developing and promulgating safety programs which significantly affect unit members.
- 16.3 The District will provide to Associate Faculty members copies of all safety documents which are appropriate to their job performance in the following manner:
  - 16.3.1 Appropriate reporting forms will be made available in the Associate Faculty workrooms on both campuses, in the Instruction Offices on both campuses, and any other location deemed appropriate by the District.
  - 16.3.2 Sections of the MSJC Safety Policy Manual that are directly relevant to classroom activities will be included in the Faculty Handbook, which is distributed to Associate Faculty members each semester.
  - 16.3.3 At least one (1) copy of the complete MSJC Safety Policy Manual will be made available to Associate Faculty in the Associate Faculty workrooms and Instruction Offices on both campuses.
  - 16.3.4 A brief presentation on the requirements Associate Faculty must follow to insure a safe working environment will be included at the Associate Faculty orientation held at the beginning of each Fall and Spring semester.

The District continues its commitment to provide every employee a safe working environment. Unit Members will not be required to work under unsafe conditions or to perform tasks which would endanger them. Alternately, Unit Members will be required to report, in writing, any unsafe conditions. The District will respond to the Unit Member's report.

- Be safe in the workplace
- Report unsafe conditions
- Expect a response
- Expect a resolution

#### ARTICLE XVII. CONCERTED ACTIVITIES

- 17.1.1 The Union recognizes the duty and obligation of its representatives to comply with the provisions of this Agreement and to make every effort toward inducing all employees to do so. In the event of a strike, work stoppage, slow-down, or other interference with the operations of the District by employees who are represented by the Union, the Union agrees in good faith to take all necessary steps to cause those employees to cease such action.
- 17.1.2 It is agreed and understood that any employee violating this Article may be subject to discipline up to and including termination by the District.
- 17.1.3 It is understood that in the event this Article is violated, the District shall be entitled to withhold from the Union any rights, privileges or services provided for in this Agreement or in the District policy.

#### ARTICLE XVIII. TERM

This Agreement shall be and remain in affect up to and including June 30, 2027.

This Agreement shall cover the 2022-23, 2023-24, 2024-25, 2025-26 and 2026-27 academic year and shall terminate June 30, 2027.

Negotiations for the 2022-23, 2023-24, 2024-25, 2025-26 and 2026-27 academic years are closed.

In the event the district enters into a bargaining agreement with MSJCFA/CTA or CSEA for percentage salary increases in excess of amounts set forth in Appendix A upon UPTE-CWA request the District will meet and confer. Similarly, in the event the state legislators, senators, and governor enact legislation which provides for fully funding health benefits for Associate Faculty statewide, the district will meet and confer on the topic.

Signed and entered into thisday of	_
Mt. San Jacinto Community College District	University Professional and
	Technical
	Employees-Communication Workers
	Of America (UPTE-CWA)
Junnin Ste	Sandra Blackman (Aug 27, 2024 18:48 PDT)

# APPENDIX A ASSOCIATE FACULTY

#### HOURLY SALARY SCHEDULE

#### Board Approved August 8, 2024

#### 4% INCREASE EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2024

STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
65.529	69.074	72.617	76.158	79.701

#### 2% INCREASE EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2025

STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
66.840	70.455	74.069	77.681	81.295

#### 2% INCREASE EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026

STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
68.177	71.864	75.550	79.235	82.921

#### LABORATORY/NONTEACHING HOURLY RATES

1-6 Semesters	Step 1
7-12 Semesters	Step 2
13+ Semesters	Step 3

#### LECTURE HOURLY RATES

1-6 Semesters	Step 3
7-12 Semesters	Step 4
13+ Semesters	Step 5

#### **EXTENSIVE LABS**

1-6 Sem	esters	Step 3
7-12 Sem	esters	Step 4
13+ Sem	esters	Step 5

#### **APPENDIX B**

#### **Equity Funding Distribution Formula**

- 1. Seniority Points each associate faculty member will receive one point for each semester they have worked for the District beginning in 1998. The maximum number of seniority points which can be earned is 16 (eight semesters)
- 2. Workload Points the maximum allowable workload for associate faculty is 60% of a full-time load. Each associate faculty members' workload is recorded and paid in contact hours. An associate faculty member may have an assignment of up to 60% of 162 lecture contact hours, 216 laboratory contact hours or a percentage combination of the two. Workload points are computed as follows:
  - a. Contact Lecture hours divided by 18 = ``x'' # of points up to 9
  - b. Contact Laboratory hours divided by 54 = "x" # of points up to 4
- 3. Individual Total Points are determined by adding #1 (seniority points) and #2 (load points) above.
- 4. Determining the multiplier factor the factor will be determined by adding the individual total points together to arrive at a Grand Point Total for all employees on the distribution roster. Next divide each individual total by the grand total to arrive at the "factor" (fraction of 1) which becomes the multiplier.
- 5. The total amount of the state equity distribution is then multiplied by each individual's factor. This determines the dollar amount each individual will be entitled to as their part of the semester's equity distribution.

## APPENDIX C

#### ASSOCIATE FACULTY STATEMENT OF GRIEVANCE / FORMAL PROCEDURE

Mt. San Jacinto Community College

Employee Name: □							
City/State/Zip:□	Telephone Number: □						
Date of Alleged Grievance:□				ate Formal Grievance is Filed (Step 2):□			
		Informal G	riev	vance - Step 1			
	Date Grievant Notified Division Chair/Director (Step 1):□		Date Division Chair/Director gave verbal response (Step 1):□				
		ged to have been violated:					
-		nses can be attached if mor			.1 1	D :1 0110 :	
to support your position		violation and grievance. St	ate sp	pecific facts about wha	t has occurred.	Provide full facts neces	ssary

Summer 2024



2024

2024

Name								
Address								
City					Zi	р		
Telephone	Work			Home			Cell	
Email Address (required)	Work				Но	ome		
**If any of the ab	ove informa	ation has	change	d, conta	ct HR (9	751)487-31	61.	
DAY & TIME PREFERI I am available t (check mark the ap	o teach on t		_			for the corr	osponding dayl:	
Monday	Tuesda			es you are esday $\square$	n	ursday $\Box$	Friday	Saturday 🗌
ex. 3:00-5:00 pm	ex. 3:00	-5:00 pm	ex. 3:0	0-5:00 pm	ex. 3	:00-5:00 pm	ex 3:00-5:00 pm	ex. 3:00-5:00 pm
The BEST day & t				Tim es			o above noted ( leted	days/times. Yes
I am available t								
Course Preferenc	<b>E</b> ex "FNGL 101-C	ollege Compos	sition"					
I have taught th			,,,,,,			Jld Like to	teach (list in orde	r of preference 1-3)
1.					1.			
2.					2.			
3.	3					3.		
						•••		
The total numbe	r of classes	desire to	teach(c	as load lii	mitation	ns permit):	one	
LOCATION								
	ng to teach	at the foll	owing lo	cations (	check al	I that apply		
Menifee Valley C	ampus	San Go	orgonio F	Pass Can	npus	San	Jacinto Campu	JS
	Temecula Valley Campus							
				. '				

THERE IS NO ASSIGNMENT GUARANTEED OR IMPLIED BY THE COMPLETION AND SUBMISSION OF THIS FORM.

#### **Part-time Faculty Office Hours Request Form**

#### **Guidelines for requesting office hours:**

- Part-time faculty will inform their division dean, or appropriate administrator, prior to the first week of classes, of the number of hours they wish to hold that semester.
- Office hours and location must be listed in the syllabus for each class for which office hours are provided.
- Part-time faculty are encouraged to hold office hours, unit members will be eligible to receive up to 1.5 office hour for every unit taught.
- Office hours will be paid at \$35.00 per hour.
- Schedule time and locations for office hours shall be recommended by the unit member subject to approval by the Dean.
- Office hours shall be held at times and in locations that best serve the needs of students.
- Faculty teaching distance education classes may offer virtual office hours proportionate to their distance education load. These must be scheduled at specific times and posted in syllabi.
- Each office hour meeting must be at least 30 minutes long, but no longer than two hours.
- Office hours may not be scheduled during passing periods, including those before your class.
- The dean will review to ensure compliance with these guidelines.

#### **Instructions for completing the form:**

- Complete Part 1 of the attached form.
- Submit the form to your division by the Friday before the semester in which office hours are to be held.
- Your division dean will notify you if your submission requires modification.

PART 1: COMPLETED BY INSTRUCTO	)R		
Name and ID number:	Division and Dep	eartment:	Semester:
Number of Teaching Units Assigned:		Number of office	e hours to be held:
List classes and their meeting date and time:	-		
List office hour day, dates, and times:			
Location (building and room where office ho	urs will be provide	d):	
Signature		Date	
PART 2: COMPLETED BY DIVISION			
Date and Time Received:		Verification of s	ubmitter's teaching units:
☐ Apply as submitted			
☐ Apply as Modified:			
Dean's Signature		Date	